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November 28, 2000

MEMORANDUM $m¥
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON CN-
ASSISTANT STAFHDIRECTOR
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: REASON TO BELIEVE RECOMMENDATION -

2000 OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT FOR THE
ADMINISTRATIVE FINES PROGRAM

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers who failed to file
or timely file the 2000 October Quarterly Report in accordance with 2 U.S.C. 434(a). On
September 21, 2000, Prior Notice was sent to all political commitiees and their treasurers,
informing them that the 20600 October Quarterly Report was due on October 15, 2000.
The report should cover from July 1, 2000 (or the closing date of the last report filed)
through September 30, 2000.

The committees appearing on the first list (not election-sensitive) either filed the
report more than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or filed the report
more than thirty (30) days after the due date (considered a non-filed report). The
committees appearing on the second list (election-sensitive) either filed the report more
than five (5) days after the due date, failed to file the report or failed to file the report
prior to four (4) days before the general election (considered a non-filed report). In
accordance with the schedule of civil money penalties for reports at 11 CFR 111.43, these
committecs should be assessed the civil money penaltics included on the attached lists.



Recommendation

the political committees and their treasurers
listed on the RTB Circulation Reports

violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the. civil money
penalties would be the amounts indicated on the RTB Circulation Reports.

(1) Find reason to believe that

@

(3) Send the appropriate letters.

(4)
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20463

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Tuesday, November 28, 2000 4:00

- BALLOT DEADLINE: Friday, December 01, 2000 4:00

' COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Reason To Believe Recommendation 2000 October
Quarterly Report For The Administrative Fines Program.

() } approve the recommendation(s)

() { approve the recommendations except those fo!lév;'ing -
to which | object (please insert AF#)

() { approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and dated. Piease return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

-
[

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Reason to Believe Recommendation 2000
October Quarterly Report for the
Administrative Fines Program

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPH CHOU
ag treasurerx;

RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and BETTY
PRESLEY as treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer;

JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;

DANNER FOR CONGRESS, and EARL SOETAERT
as treasurer;

MOORE FOR US SENATE, and LARRY KOPSA
as treasurer;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasureXr;

JUDY SMITH FOR CONGRESS, and ALVERNON
MCHENRY as treasurer;

Agenda Document
NO‘ X00-87

P et

AF# 97

AF# 98

? N S St

) AF# 100

AF# 102

—

AF# 103

AF# 104

— e Tt ot et

) AF# 107

) AF# 113
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rederal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines

December 05, 2000

HERGERT FOR U § SENATE, and DENNIS
HADDEN CPA as treasurer;

}

Page

AF# 130

2



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

FRIENDS OF MARK EREWER, and JOHN MARK
BREWER ag treasurer;

JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS EXPLORATORY
COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as
treasurer;

COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR
7S SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurexr;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER ag treasurer;

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARLES H
REEVES III as treasurer;

EVRE CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer;

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC) ,
and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE BAAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
as treasurer;

— et S et AT Nt S

R A

Page

AF# 138

aAr# 138

AF#- 140

AF§# 143

AF# 145

AF# 148

AF# 150

AF# 151

AF# 152

3
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Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
ag treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

DEMOCRATIC FOUNDATION OF THE DESERT:;
THE, and OSCAR G ARMIJO as treasurer;
INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICARL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NC 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurer;

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

UNITED ASSCOCIATION OF
STEAM/PIPEFITTERS LOCAL UNION 524
POLITICAL ACTION FUND, and ANTHONI
GALENAS as treasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FCX as
treasurer;

MACOME COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

vuvvvvuwvwvuvv

AF#H

AF#
AF#

AF#

AFH

AF#

AFH

AF#

AFH

AF#

AF#

Page

153

154
155

156

158

159

162

163

i64

165

166

4



Federal Election Commission
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasgurer;

CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and LEE ANN
FITZGERALD as treasurer;
INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF CRUISE LINES
POLITICAL ACTION COMM (ICCL-PAC), and
J MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer;

LAW ENFORCEMENT ALLIANCE OF AMERICA
INC FUND FOR RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT
(LERA) , and JAMES J FOTIS as,
treasurer; >

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treagurerx;

LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF ILLINOIS, and
STEVEN I GIVOT as treasurer;

vvvvvv-’vkuvvwvu

Page

AF# 168

AFg 169

AF# 170

aAF# 171

AF# 172

AFH 175

5



Federal Election Commission Page ©6
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

CERTIFICATION

I, Darlene Harris, recording secretary for the
Federal Election Commission executive session omn
December 5, 2000, do hereby certify that the

Commission took the following, actions with respect -

¥

to the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

November 28, 2000, on the following committees:

AF# 97: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and
JOSEPH CHOU as treasurex, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty would be the amount indicated on the.
report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 98: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that RAY HAYNES FOR US SENATE, and
BETTY PRESLEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434 (a)



Federal Election Commission

Page 14
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000
AF# 130: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find

reason to believe that HERGERT FOR U S SENATE, and
DENNIS HADDEN CPA as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.
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Ffederal Election Commission ' Page 16
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

AF# 138: Decided by a vote of §-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that FRIENDS OF MARK BREWER, and
JOHN MARK BREWER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
¢ivil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did net vote.

AF# 139: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that JEFF WRIGHT FOR CONGRESS
EXPLORATORY COMMITTEE, and D GERALD SEARFOSS as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
{2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not wvote.

AF§# 140: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN



Federal Election Commission Page 20
| Certification for Administrative Fines
i December 05, 2000

i

[ ~ AF# 152: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find

. reason to believe that AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
E penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commizsioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not wvote. - :

AF# 153: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that CINCINNATI BELL INC FEDERAL
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a
preliminary determination that the c¢ivil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
Mason, Mcbonald, Sandstrom, gmith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) f£ind
reason to believe that CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC,
and CAROLYN ROBERTSON as treasurel, violated 2
U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not wvote.

AF# 155: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that DEMOCRATIC FOUNDATION OF THE
DESERT; THE, and OSCAR G ARMIJO as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary
determination that the civil money penalty would be
the amount indicated on the report; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for



Federal Election Commission Page 21
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

the decigion. Commissioner Thomas did not wvote.

AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY
TNNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES P
MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.¢. 434(a) and
make a preliminary determination that the civil

; money penalty would be the amount indicated on the

£ report; (2) send the appropriate letter.

# Commissioners Mason, McDonald, gandstrom, Smith,. .and.
L Wold voted affirmatively for the decision. - - SR
el Commissioner Thomas did.not vote.

AF# 158: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M KITTLEMAN as
treagurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated om the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Conmissioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomras
did not vote.

AFH 159: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that PLUMBERS LOCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-~-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and GEORGE W REILLY
as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;



Federal Election Commission Page 24
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

|
|
|

AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
L reason to believe that WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN

) STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J GCULD as

- treasurer, vioclated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and make a
preliminary determination that the civil money
penalty would be the amount indicated on the report;
(2) send the appropriate letter. Commisgioners
Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision. Commissioner Thomas
did not vote.

AFf# 169: Decided by a vote cf 5-0 to: (1) £ind
reason to believe that CALIFORNIA VOTER GUIDE, and
LEE ANN FITZGERALD as treasurer, viclated 2 U.S.C.
434 (a) and make a preliminary determimation that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mascn, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 170: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF
CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION coMM (ICCL-PAC), and J
MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a)
and make a preliminary determination that the civil
money penalty be reduced to $2000, to eliminate

the "previous violation” weighting factor;

(2) send the appropriate letter.
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Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

AFH# 171: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) £find
reason to believe that LAW ENFORCEMENT ALLIANCE oF
AMERICA INC FUND FOR RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT (LERAA),
and JAMES J FOT1S as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and make a preliminary determination that the
civil money penalty would be the amount indicated on
the report; (2) send the appropriate letter. . =
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, and
Wold voted affirmatively for the decision.
Conmissioner Thomas did not vote.

AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reagon to believe that PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC COMPANY
PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as treasurer, violated 2
U.5.C. 434(a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason{chDonald, Sandstrom,
Smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.



Federal Election Commission Page 26
Certification for Administrative Fines
December 05, 2000

AFH# 175: Pecided by a vote of 5-0 to: (1) find
reason to believe that LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF
ILLINOIS, and STEVEN I GIVOT as treasurexr, violated
2 U.S8.C. 434 (a) and make a preliminary determination
that the civil money penalty would be the amount ..
indicated on the report; (2) send the appropriate
letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom,
smith, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision. Commissioner Thomas did not vote.

Attest:

Hecarm ’Zjaoog; ﬁ'}anﬁm,e/ﬁww@—*

Date Darlene Harris
Acting Deputy Secretary
of the Commission
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WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES
CONFIRMATION F CHMGHM TGO:JAMES 4 FOTIS
LAW SNFRCEMNT ALLIANCE OF AMERICA FFRG
TT00 LEESBURG PIKE STE 421
FALLS CHURCH VA 22043-2633

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIAON
LEAH PALMER

= 999 E ST NW # 709

4 WASHINGTON DC 20663

DECEMBER 7y 2000

e JAMES J FOTIS

S LAY ENFRCEMNT ALLIANCE 0OF AMERICA FFRG
7700 LEESBURG PIXE SUITE 421

FALLS CHURCH VA 22043

£00291393
AFg: 171

] DEAR JAMES J FOTIS:

£

THE FEDERAL ELECTION CAMPALIGHN ACT OF 1971 AS AHENDED {%"THE
ACTY), REQUIRES THAT YOUR COMMITYSE FILE AN OCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT
OF RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS IN A CALENDAR YEAR IN HWHICH A
REGULARLY SCHEDULED GEMERAL ELECTION (S HELD. THIS REPORTe COVERING
THE PERIND THROUGH SEPTEMBER 30THs SHALL BE FILED ND LATER THAN
OCTRNBER 15THo 2 UsSele 434(A). YDU WERE PREVIOQUSLY NOTIFIED OF THE
DUE DATE S0R THIS REPORT., RECORDS AT THE COMRISSION INDICATE THAT
THIS REPORT WAS NOT FILED PRIDOR TO FOUR {43 DAYS BEFORE THE GENERAL -
FLECTION HELD 0N NOVEWMBER 7, 2000. YOU SHOULD FILE THE OCTOBER
QUARTERLY REPORT IF YDU HAYE NOT ALREADY DONE S$0. ’

THE ACT WAS FURTHER AMENDED IN 1939 TO PERMIT THE FEDERAL
ELECTION COMMISSION ("THE COMMISSIONT) TO IMPOSE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTIES FOP WIOJLATIONS OF THE REPORTING REQUIREMENTS OF 2 UeSeCo
634(A)e 2 UoSels 437G(4a3t43. ON 12/05/200Cs THE COMMISSION FOUND
THAT THERS IS REASTGN TO SELIEVE (TRT5") THAT LAW ENFRCEMNT ALLIANCE
OF AMZRICA FFRG AND ¥Y3Us AS TREASURER, VICLATED 2 U.5.C. 4340(A} BY
FAILING T3 FILS TIMASLY THI3 RIPORT 3h 3R BEFORE OCTOBER 15TH. BASED
IN THD COMMISSION'S SCHEGULES SF CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES AT 11 CFR
11143, THE AMIUNT OF YZUR CIVIL MIONEY PEMALTY CALCULATED AT RT3 IS
52000.00. 1T I3 DUE 3Y Ol/f14/72001 AND 1S BASED ON THESE FACTIRS:

SLECTION SENSITIVITY OF REPORT:  ELECTION SENSITIVE
LEVEL OF ACTIVITY=: $37345

NUMBEZR DF DAYS LATE: NOT FILED

NUMTER OF PRIVIAQUS CIVIL MONEY PENALTIES ASSESSEL: O

*If THE REPDRT WAS WOV RFECEIVED, THE LEVEL IF ACTIVITY AAS ESTIMATED
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USTNG TOTaAL
ELECTION CY
DIVIDED 3Y

ECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS FOR THE CURRENT 2~-VEAR
£ (OR PRIDR CYCLE, IF NO REPORTS HERE FILED THIS CYCLE)
E NUMBER OF REPORTS FILED.

TS PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYy SEND THE ENCLOSED
REMITTANCT AND YOUR PAYMENT TO THE COMMISSION AT THE ADDRESS ON PAGE
3, UPON RECEIPT OF YDUR PAYMENT, THE COMMISSIDON WILL SEND YOU A
FINAL DETERMINATION LETTER.

TO CHALLENGE THE RTS8 FINOING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY

TO CHALLENGE THE RTB FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY, YOU MUST 5UBAIT & WRITTEN RESPONSE TO THE COMMRISSION®S
OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVISHs 379 © STREETs NWe WASHINGTON. DC
20463, YCUR RESPOMNSE MUST BE RECEIVED BY 01/14/2001. YOUR WRITVTEN
RESPONSE MUST INCLUDE THE REASONISH WHY YOU ARE CHALLENGING THE RTB
FINDING AND/OR CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY. THE COMMISSION WILL
ONLY CONSIDER CHALLENGES THAT ARE BASED GN A FACTUAL ERRDRe
MISCALCULATION OF THE CALCULATSD CIVIL MONEY PENALTY 8Y THE
COMMISSTIOMy AR THE EXISTENCE OF EXTRAODRDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT
PERSISYED FDR MDRE THAN 48 ACURS THAT WERE BEYOND YOUR CONTROL AND
PREVENTED YOU FROM FILING THE REPDRT IN A TIMELY MANNER. YOUR
RESPONSE '"MUST INCLUDE THE FACTUAL BASIS SUPPORTING THE REASON(S) AND
SUPPNRTING DOCUMENTATIGON, THE COMMISSIAN STRONGLY ENCOURAGES THAY
DICUMENTS 3F SUBMITTED IN THE FORM OF AFFIDAVITS OR DECLARATIONS.
EXTRAORDINARY CIRCUMSTANCES THAT WILL NDYT BE CONSIDERED INCLUDE, BU
ARE NOT LIMITED TOs NEGLIGENCEs PROSBLEMS WITH VENDORS OR
CONTRACTGORSs STAFF ILLNESS, COMPUTFR FATLURES AND SIMILAR
CIRCUMSTANCES. 11 CFR 111.35{3)C13(1I1} AND (4)a

IF YCOU INTSHD TO 3E REPRESENTED BY COUNSEL, PLEASE ADVISE THE
CFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW. YOU SHQULO PROVIDEs IN WRITINGs
THE NAME, ADDRESS AND TELEPHONE NUMBER OF YOUR COUNSEL AND AUTHORIZE
COUNSEL T9 RECEIVE NOTIFICATIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS RELATING TO THIS
CHALLENGE AND IMPOSITION OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.

[F YOQU 00 NOT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SUBMIT A
CHALLENGE ’
IF YOU D0 MN3OT PAY THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY OR SU3MIT A
WRITTEN RESPONST, THE COMMISSION WILL ASSUME THAT THE PRECEDING
FACTUAL ALLEGATIING ARE TRUT AND MAKE A FINAL DETERMINATION THAT
LAW CMFRCEMNT ALLIANCE JIF AMERICA FFRG AND Y3Us AS TREASURER,
VIOULATED 2 UaSelo 4341A) AND ASSESS A CIVIL MONEY PENALTY.
UHPATD CIVIL MOHEY PINALTICS ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
PEAULATIONG wiLL 3T SUBJECT T3 THE CE3T7 COLLECTION ACT CF
1722("0CA"IAS AMENOED BY ThE ODE6T COLLCCTEON IMPROVEMENT ACT GOF
19965 31 UaSelfe 3701 2T 55Q. THE COYMISSICN MAY TAKE ANY AND ALL
APPROPRIATS ACTION AUTHORIZ®D &ND REQUIRED 8Y THE DCA, AS AMENDEDs
INCLUDING TRAHSFEER TO THE UeSe DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY FOR
COLLECTIONS. 11 CFR 111s45.

THIS MATTER WAS GEZNERATED 3ASED 2N INFORMATION ASCERTALINED 1Y
THT COMMISSION IN THE NORIMAL COUZSE CF CARRYING DUT ITS SUPERVISORY
ATSPONSISILITINS. 2 UaSeCe 43750420, IT AILL REMAIN CONFIDENMTIAL
T4 ACCORDANCE WITH 2 UeSeloe 437G1LAML6){3) AND 437GLADIL2D LAY UNLESS
Y5 HOTIFY THE COMMISSION IN WRITING THAT YIU WISH THE MATTER T3 3E

=1
Codin
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ESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVICES

MADEZ PUS3LIC.
ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ON THE COMMISSTION®S ADMINISTRATIVE FINE
PROGRAM, INCLUDING THE FINAL REGULATIONSe IS LOCATED AT THE
COHMISSIONTS WEDBSITE AT WWWeFEC.GOVe IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS
REGARDING THE PAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTYs PLEASE ™
CONTACT MARY S, SEILER IN THE REPORTS ANALYSIS OIVISION AT ODUR TOLL
FREE NUMBSR (800)424-9530 {PRESS 1y THEN PRESS 23 OR {202)694-1130.
IF YOU HAVE QUESTIONS REGARDING THE SUBMISSION DF A CHALLENGE.
PLEASE CONTACT THE 0OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW AT OUR TOLL FREE
NUMAER {2003424-9530 {PRESS Oy THEN EXTe 1660) OR (202)694-1660.

SINCERELYy

JARRYL WGLD
CHAIRMAN

¥ % * # % * # %* % L % %* * %
AOMINISTRATIVE FINE REMITTANCE & PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

1M ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIE®S AT 11 CFR 11l.43,
THE AMOUNT 3F YOUR CIVIL HMONEY PENALTY CALCULATED AT RTB IS
$2000.00 FOR THE 2000 GCTCAER JQUARTERLY REPORT.
PLEASS MAIL THIS REMITTANCE ®ITH A CHECK OR MONEY ORDER MADE
PAYABLE T2 THE FEOJERAL ELECTION COMMISSION TOD THE FOLLOWING ARDRESS:
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION
P-0. 80X 952182 L2
5T LJUIS, MO &3195-2132

I€ YGU CHAJSE YO SEMND YOUR REMITTAMCE AND PAYMENT 8Y COURIER OR
IAVERNIGHT DELIVERY, PLEASE USE THIS ADDRESS:
FIRSTAR - GOVERNMENT LOCKA0X
FEC #95%2132
1935 CONYENTION PLAZA
STa LOUISe M0 63101
THT REMITTANCE AND YOUR PAYMENT ARE DUE BY 01/14/2001l. UPON

RECTIPT OF YOUR AEMITTAMCE AND PAYMENT, THE COMMISSION WILL SEND YOU
A FINAL OJETERMINATION LETTER.

P LI LAt ZNERCoMNT ALLTANLCE OF AMZRICA FRRG
FIC OIDE: £D22731393

AFE k2 171

PAYMENT TUR DJATz: D1/14/72001

PAYMENT AMIUNT D=2 $2320.00
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION T,
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20463 00 BN 2% 21z Su
March 27, 2001
MEMORANDUM
TO: THE COMMISSION
THROUGH: JAMES A. PEHRKON
STAFF DIRECTOR.
FROM: JOHN D. GIBSON ) e
ASSISTANT STAFY DIRECTOR - e
REPORTS ANALYSIS DIVISION
SUBJECT: ADMINISTRATIVE FINES FINAL DETERMINATION

RECOMMENDATION FOR THE 2000 OCTOBER
QUARTERLY AND NOVEMBER MONTHLY REPORTS

Attached are two lists of political committees and their treasurers which the
Commission has found reason to believe (RTB) and assessed proposed civil money
penalties calculated at RTB for failure to file or failure to timely file the 2000 October
Quarterly and November Monthly Reports. The first list represents committees that have
paid the civil money penalty and the second list represents those that have not paid. The
committees that have not paid have been given at least forty (40) days from the date of the
RTB notification to remit payment.

fn accordance with 11 CFR 111.34 and 11 CFR 111.40, the Commission shall send
a final determination notice to those respondents that have either paid or not paid the civil
money penalty.

committees have filed their reports after the RTB finding. The actual level of

activity disclosed on the report results in a civil money penalty which is lower than that
assessed at RTB.

Friends of Mark Brewer (AF 138) disclosed zero receipts and disbursements, thus

bringing their final civil money penalty to zero as well. The remaining commitiees
are:



e Comumittee to Elect Kevin McKeigue for U5 Senate
AF #140

None of the committees listed above have paid the ¢civil money penalty. The actual
level of activity and receipt date of the reports, as well as the revised civil money
penalties, are reflected on the attached “not paid” circulation repott.

additional committees filed the report after the RTB finding ‘and disclosed
levels of activity that would have result&d in higher civil money penalties had the reports
been filed prior to the RTB stage. However, the internal procedures adopted by the
Commission on March 20, 2001 only allows for approval of a lewer civil money penalty
at the final determination stage if the report discloses an actual level of activity which is
less than the estimate on which the RTB civil money penalty was based. Therefore, the
civil money penalty that is cecommended at the final determination stage for the
following committees is the same amount that was approved at the RTB stage:

s FEva Clayton Committee for Congress (AF #148)
RTB fine based on estimated level of activity: $4,000
Actual level of activity fine: $5,000
(The $4,000 finc has been paid by the Committee)



e L A LI e

RAD Recommendation

)
|
|
:

(1) Make final determinations that the political committees and their treasurers on the
attached Tists violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess the civil money penalties so

indicated.

(2) Send the appropriate letters.
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FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISS_ION
Washington, DC 20463 )

DATE & TIME OF TRANSMITTAL: Wednesday, March 28, 2001 4:00 .

. BALLOT DEADLINE: Monday, April 02, 2001 _4:00

COMMISSIONER: MASON, McDONALD, SANDSTROM, SMITH, THOMAS, WOLD

SUBJECT: Administrative Fines Final Determination Recommendation
For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly

Reports.
‘—’., () | approve the recommendation(s) el
:i () { object to the recomrr;endation(s)

“ () | approve the recommendations except those following

to which 1 object (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | abstain (please insert AF#)

() | approve the recommendations except those following
in which | am recused (please insert AF#)

A definite vote is required. All ballots must be signed and daied. Please return
ONLY THE BALLOT to the Commission Secretary. Please return ballot no later
than date and time shown above.

DATE: SIGNATURE:

FROM THE OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMISSION
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BEFORE THE FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

In the Matter of

Administrative Fines Final
Determination Recommendation For The
2000 October Quarterly And November
Monthly Reports

PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS, and JOSEPFPH CHOU
as treasurer;

LEE STEERS FOR CONGRESS / 2000, and
MARY LYNN LANIER as treasurer;
JANEZICH FOR US SENATE COMMITTEE, and
RAFAEL ORTEGA as treasurer;

TOM FOLEY FOR US SENATE, and FRANK M
VACCARO JR as treasurer;

FRIENDS OF MARK BREWER, and JOHN MARK
BREWER as treasurer;

AF# 100

AFH# 102

AF# 138



Federal Election Commission

Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

COMMITTEE TO ELECT KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR
US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEIGUE as
treasurer;

HUTCHINS FOR CONGRESS, and BRUCE E
RAFER as treasurer;

MEEKS FOR CONGRESS 2000, and CHARLES H
REEVES IIT as treasurer;

EVA CLAYTON COMMITTEE FOR CONGRESS,
and PATSY T HARGROVE as treasurer;

E*TRADE GROUP INC PAC (E*TRADE PAC).,
and MICHAEL CHOCHON as treasurer;
AMERICAN ACADEMY OF EMERGENCY MEDICINE
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE AAEM PAC,
and WILLIAM R LITTLE MD FAAEM as
treasurer;

AMERICAN MEAT INSTITUTE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and SARA J LILYGREN
as treasureXx;

CINCINNATT BELL INC FEDERAL POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W PETERSON
as treasurer;

CITIZENS FOR THE REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN
ROBERTSON as treasurer;

DEMOCRATIC FOUNDATION OF THE DESERT;
THE, and OSCAR G ARMIJO as treasurer;
INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF HOLIDAY INNS INC
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and JAMES
P MCCAULEY as treasurer;

MARRIOTT INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and TRENT M
KITTLEMAN as treasurer;

PLUMBERS LOQCAL UNION NO 1
NYC-POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
GEORGE W REILLY as treasurexr;

AF#

AT#

AF#

AF#

AFH#

AF#

AFE#

AF#

AF#
AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

Dage

143

145

148

150

151

152

1583

154
155

156

158

159

2



Federal Election Commission

Certification for Administrative Fines
april 02, 2001

TACO POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
PETER BRAUN as treasurer;

VIACOM INTERNATIONAL INC POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and MICHAEL CRUZ as
treasurer;

WISCONSIN RIGHT TO LIFE POLITICAL
ACTION COMMITTEE, and RICHARD J FOX as
treasurer;

MACCME COUNTY DEMOCRATIC COMMITTEE,
and NANCY FALCONE as treasurer;

WEST VIRGINIA REPUBLICAN STATE
EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurerx;

INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL OF CRUISE LINES
POLITICAL ACTION COMM (ICCL-PAC), and
J MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer;

LAW ENFORCEMENT ALLIANCE OF AMERICA
TNC FUND FOR RESPONSIBLE GOVERNMENT
(LEAR), and JAMES J FOTIS as '
treasurer;

PECO ENERGY COMPANY POLITICAL ACTION
COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA ELECTRIC
COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer;

LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF ILLINOIS, and
STEVEN I GIVOT as treasurexr;
COMMITTEE ON ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000
REPUBLTICAN NATION CONVENTION, and ALEC
POITEVINT as treasurerx;

BILL BRADLEY FOR PRESIDENT INC, and
THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer;

PR

ATF#

AP

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AF#

AFH

AF#

Page

i62

164
165

166

168
170

171

172

175

177

237

3



Federal Election Commission Page 4
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

CERTIFICATION

I, Mary W. Dove, Secretary of the Federal
Election Commission, do hereby certify that

on April 2, 2001 the Commission took the following

actions on the Final Determination Recommendation- -

¥

For The 2000 October Quarterly And November Monthly
Report in the Administrative Fines Program, &s
recommended in the Reports Analysis Division's

Memorandum dated March 27, 2001, on the following

committees:

AF# 97: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PEGRAM FOR CONGRESS,
and JOSEPH CHOU as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memcrandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.



Federal Election Commission Page 8
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

AF# 138: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the FRIENDS OF MARK BREWER,
and JOHN MARK BREWER as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.
434(a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in
the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated
March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, gandgtrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 140: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE TO ELECT
KEVIN MCKEIGUE FOR US SENATE, and KEVIN MCKEILIGUE as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a '
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Diwvision's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.



Federal Election Commission Page 11
Certification for Administrative Fines
April 02, 2001

2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
" Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

ar# 153: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the CINCINNATI BELL INC
FEDERAL POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and MARK W
PETERSON as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the

Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March

27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter. . T
Commissioners Mason, McDenald, gandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 154: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
¢£inal determination that the CITIZENS FOR THE
REPUBLIC, and CAROLYN ROBERTSCON as treasurer.
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) =end the
appropriate letter. Commisgioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 155: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the DEMOCRATIC FCOUNDATION
OF THE DESERT; THE, and OSCAR G ARMIJO as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess 2 ¢ivil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 156: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that the INN/PAC INT'L ASSN OF
HOLIDAY INNS INC POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE, and
JAMES P MCCAULEY as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a c¢ivil money penalty indicated in

Federal Election Commission Page 14
Certification for administrative Fines
April 62, 2001

AFH# 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
QOULD as treasurer, violated 2 U.8.C. 434(a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the
Reports Analysis Divigion's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AFH# 170: Decided by a vote of -0 to: (1) make a7
final determination that' the INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL

OF CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION COMM (ICCL-PAC)

and J MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S8.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in

the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

March 27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDomnald, Sandstrom, Smith,

Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

AF# 171: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (i) make a
final determination that +he .LAW ENFORCEMENT
ALLTANCE OF AMERICA INC FUND FOR RESPONSIBLE
GOVERNMENT (LEAA), and JAMES J FOTIS as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess & civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold wvoted
affirmatively for the decision.

AFH 17Z: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FKA: PHILADELPHIA
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AF# 168: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the WEST VIRGINIA
REPUBLICAN STATE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE, and ROBERT J
GOULD as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434 (a) and
assess a civil money penalty indicated in the

ot Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March
27, 2001;(2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstrom, Smith,
Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the
decision.

AF# 170: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) ~make a =~
final determination that' the INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL

OF CRUISE LINES POLITICAL ACTION CcoMM (ICCL-PAC),

and J MICHAEL CRYE as treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C.

434 (a) and assess a civil money penalty indicated in

the Reports Analysis Division's Memorandum dated

March 27, 2001; (2) send the appropriate letter.
Commissioners Mason, McDonald, Sandstxom, Smith,

Thomas, and Wold voted affirmatively for the

decision.

HH

AFE 171: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the -LAW ENFORCEMENT
ALLIANCE OF AMERICA INC FUND FOR RESPONSIBLE
GOVERNMENT (LEAA), and JAMES J FOTIS as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 172: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: {1) make a
final determination that the PECO ENERGY COMPANY
POLITICAL ACTION COMMITTEE (FXA: PHILADELPHIA
ELECTRIC COMPANY PAC), and THERESA M RUCH as
treasurer, violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a
civil money penalty indicated in the Reports
Analysis Division's Memorandum dated March 27,
2001; (2) send the appropriate letter. Commissioners
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Mason, Mcbonald, Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold
voted affirmatively for the decision.

AFH# 175: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the LIBERTARIAN PARTY OF
ILLINOIS, and STEVEN I GIVOT as treasurer, violated
2 U.S.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money penalty
indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's

. Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the

o appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, MeDonald,
5 sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted

s affirmatively for the decision.

ful AFH# 177: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the COMMITTEE ON
ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE 2000 REPUBLICAN NATION
CONVENTION, and ALEC POITEVINT as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S.C. 434(a) and aassess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001; (2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decision.

AF# 237: Decided by a vote of 6-0 to: (1) make a
final determination that the BILL BRADLEY FOR
PRESTDENT INC, and THEODORE V WELLS JR as treasurer,
violated 2 U.S8.C. 434(a) and assess a civil money
penalty indicated in the Reports Analysis Division's
Memorandum dated March 27, 2001;(2) send the
appropriate letter. Commissioners Mason, McDonald,
Sandstrom, Smith, Thomas, and Wold voted
affirmatively for the decisiomn.
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Attest:

Se(!ret r}r Of the Comi . - PR

Received in the Secretariat: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 12:34 p.m.
Circulated to the Commission: Wed., Mar. 28, 2001 4:00 p.m.

Deadline for vote: Mon., Apxr. 02, 2001 4:00 p.m.
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Filkihe
WESTERN UNION COMMERCIAL SERVIC
COMFIRMATION IOF THaN TC:JAMES 3 FOTIS
LAW ENFORCEMENT ALLTANCE DF AMERICA INC
7700 LEESBURG PIKE STE 421
FALLS CHURCH VA& 22043-2633

FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSIOM
LEAH. PALKER

9993 T ST Nw # 709
HASHINGTON DC 20453

APRIL 4, 2001

JAMES 4 FOTIS

LAY EMFORCEMENT ALLTANCE OF AMERICA INC
TTOQ LEESSQURG PIKE SUITE 421

FALLS CHURCH VA 22043

00291393
AFg 171

DEAR JAMES 4 FOTIS,

ON 1270572030, THE FEDERAL ECLECTION COMMISSION {PTHE
COMMISSINNTY FOUND REASON T3 BELIEVE (PRTE%™) THAT LAW ENFORCEMENT
ALLIANCE OF AMERICA INC AND YODUs AS TREASURER; VIOLATED 2 UeSele
434¢A) FOR FAILING TO FILE THE 2000 DCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORTs. BY
AATLGRAM DATCD 1270772300, THE COMMISSION SENT YOU NOTIFICATION DF
THE T3 FINDING THAT IMNCLUDED A CIVIL MOMY PEMALTY CALCULATED AT
ATA OF 32000.00 1IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11
CofFaRa L1le43e WITHIN 40 DAYS OF THE COMMISSION®S RT3 FINDINGe YIU
WERE REQUIRZD 7O CITHER TRANSHIY PAYMENT OF THE CALCULATED CIVIL
MOMEY PENALTY 2% SUSMIT A wRITTEN RESPONSE CHALLEMGING EITHER THE
RT3 FINDIMNG IR TH” CALCULATED CIVIL MONEY PENALTY. YIU MUST ALSO
FILZ THE 2250 JOCTA9ER JUARTEALY REPIAT IF YOU HAVE NOT ALREADY DONC
$3a

THT COMMISSTIIN D10 N0T RECEIVE PAYMENT OF TnZ CALCULATED CIVIL
HOMTY 2EHALTY P YOUR WRITTER RESPONSE WITHIN THE TInE PERMITTED.
THIRSF IR T, THT ZOMMISSY I MADE A FINAL DETERMINATION DY 04/02/72001
THAT Y70, 4% ToTASNCTR, A0 LAJd ENEIRCEMEST ALLIAMCE 3F AMERICA INMC
YINLATZIZ 2 Jabelae 434043 AKD ASSTSSES A ZIVIL 42NEY PENALTY IN THE
AMGUHT OF $£2007.00 1'1 ACCORDANCE wWilTH 11 CeFale 1lle%3e THE CIVIL
MOMTY PENALTY I3 3A380 24 THESE FACTIAS:

CSLECTION SE-SITIVITY OF RePORT:  SLECTINN SENSITIVE

£OGF DAYS LATE: NDT FILED

LTVOL OF ACTIVITY=®: 41339
NTEODE PREVIAUS CIVIL MOMEY PUNALTIES ASSESSED: O

17 THT 2777047 WAS ~HOT AL

m

IVcle Tet& LEVEL OF ACTIVITY
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WESTERN U C OMMER

WAS SSTIMATED USING TOTAL RECEIPTS AND DISBURSEMENTS FOR
THT CUPRENT 2-YCAR ELECTION CYCLE {QR PRIOR CVCLEe IF ND
NEPTIATS WMERE FILED THIS CYCLE) DIVIDED BY THE NUMBER OF
REPORYS FILZ0.

T PAY THE CIvVIL MOMEY PENALTY :

TH PAY THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY, SEND THE ENMCLOSED FORM AND YOUR
PAYMENT TO THE ADDRESS 0N PAGE 3 WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT QOF THIS
LETTER,

IF ¥YOU DD NOT PAY THE CIVIL MONEY POMNALTY

UNPAID CIVIL MONTY PENALTIES ASSESSED THROUGH THE ADMINISTRATIVE
FIMNE REGULATIONS WILL Lk SUSJECT TC THE DEBY COLLECTION ACT OF 1982
("OCA™)s AS AMENDCD SY THE DEBZT COLLECTION IMPROVEMENY ACT OF 1996
("DCIA"Y, 31 UaSsCs 3701 ET SE Qo 17 YOU D0 NDT PAY THIS DEBT KWITHIN
30 DAYS (08 FILE A WRITTSN PETITION TO A FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT -
5% S3LAaW)y THT COMMISSION WILL TRANSFER THE DEBT TO THE UeSe.
DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY (®TREASURY") FOR COLLECTIDN. WITHIN 5
DAYS 7OF ITS TRANSFSR TG TREASURY, TREASURY WltlL CONTACY THE DEBTOR
AMD REAUSST PAYMENT., T2ASASURY CURRENTLY CHARGES A FEE OF 183 OF THE
CIVIL MONTY PENALTY FSR ITS COLLECTIOM SERVICES. THE FEE WILL BE
ADDED T THE AMOUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY THAT YOU OWEs. SHOULD
TREASURY®S ATTEMPTS FAIL, TREASURY WILL TRANSFER THE DEBT TO A
PPIVATE COLLECTION AGENCY ("PCA™)}, IF THE DEBT IS REFERRED 70O A
PCAy THE TAEZASURY AND PCA COLLECT & FEE OF 284 OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PEMALTY AMDUNT WHICH WILL 2L ADDED T3 THE AMOUNT OF THE CIVIL MONEY
PENALTYW. IF THE NEBT REMAINS UNPAID, TREASURY MAY RECOMMEND THAT
THE COMMISSION RTFER THE MATTER TO THE DEPARTHMENT OF JUSTICE FOR
LITIGATIGONG

17 YOU CHOOSE T3 APprAL THI FIMAL DETERMINATION OR CIVIL MONEY
PENALTY

IF YOU CHODSE TI APPEZAL THE FINAL PETERMINATION, YOU SHOULD
SUDMIT A YRITTSH PETITIONG AITHINM 30 DAYS OF RECEIPY OF THIS LETTER:

T THE DISTRICT COURY COF THE UNITED STATES FJR THE BISTRICT IN WHICH -

THE COMMITTES OGN YOU RESIDEs N7 TRANSALT BUSINESS, REQUESTING THAT
THE FINAL OETERMIMATION O M2DIFISD OR SET ASIDE. SEE 2 UeSelo
43TGLAI(LI(CILITIT).  YOUR FAILURE T2 RAISE AN ARGUMENT 1IN A TIMELY

ASHINY SURINS THT ADINISTRATIVE PROCSSS SHALL BE DEEMED A WAIVER
IF THE RESPONICNTYS RISHMT TS PRESENT SUCH ARSUMENT IN a4 PEYITION YO
TYT DISTRAICT COURT UN2% 2 Yelielo 437%e 11 CoFeRe 1116330

THT O OCAMFIDENTIALITY PRIVISIONS AT 2 Uab5.Ce 437G4AM{12) NO LONGER
ATOLY ANT THIS MATTTO 1T N0W PUBLIZ.  THE FILE WILL 3% MADE A PART
TEOTHT ODPYSLIC ?ITCOTY SURSUANT TO Ll Cofe% 111e%2(3). ALTHOUGH THE

COANLETD OFLLT MYST A% PLLCED SN THE 2U4L L RICORD WITHIN 30 DAYS
FROM THT DATT OF THS £0MMNISSIOINGS SOTIFICATION, THIS May OCCUR AT
AMY TIUE BTLEWLNG CPERATIFICATION OF THT COMMISSIONTS YOTC.

I Y30 AT ety 4J"TI_1J REZAIIING THE PAYMENT OF THE CIVIL
MINEY PEMALTY, PLFASE JONTADT ARY :o SEILER AY FEODOERAL ELECYION
CANRISS T I 0 97 T STay Uly WATHINGTONL, 20 20653, DR QUR TOLL FREE
MRS (330 )Y424=-9530 (PFASSS 1y THEN PRISS 23 IR (21321594~1130.

AL SERVICES
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WESTERN UNIDON COMMERCIAL SERVICES

SInCERZLY

DANMY LEE ICODONALD
CHATRMAN

ADMINISTRATIVE FINE PAYMENT INSTRUCTIONS

I8 ACCORDANCE WITH THE SCHEDULE OF PENALTIES AT 11 LoFoRe
111443y THE CIVIL MONEY PENALTY IS 32000.00 FOR THE
2000 DCTOBER QUARTERLY REPORT.

THIS PEMALTY SHOULD BE PAID 3Y CHECK OR MONEY ORDER MADE PAYABLE

TO THE FEQERAL FELECTTION COMAISSION. [T SHOULD BE SENT BY MAIL TO:

FEQERAL ELECTICN COMMISSION
PO BOX 9521832
ST. LNUISy HT 63195-2132

If YOU CRODSE TO S3ND YOUR PAYMENT B8Y COURIER OR OVERNIGHT
DELIVERY, PLZASE USE THIS ADDRESS:

FIASTAR = GOVERNFINT LICKB8OX
FEC 4952132

1005 CTONVENTION PLAZA

STae LIUIS, M2 83121

THT EQRYM AND PAYMINT ARS DUE WITHIN 30 DAYS OF RECEIPT OF THIS
LETTER,

SLTASE NETALHY AND RITURN THE PORTIOM BELOW W#ITH YOUR PAYHENT

- A - - - e e e b ey e G A e R g D D My A e 6 s e e dw sl T S o L e TS M S g

TAT LAY CNFIFCEMT 7 ALLIANTT ZF o AnTRICA INC

LEE 171

DAYMEYT AYMTUAT DUl 32070.00

3

()

R



CERTIFICATION - DEBT COLLECTION

With respect to the debts attached or transmitted with this certification, I certify the following:

1.

Valid Debts. The debts are delinquent, valid and legally enforceable in the amounts stated. No debtor
has repaid or agreed to repay the claim under a signed repayment agreement or filed for review of the
claim.

No Bar to Collection. The debts are not subject to any circumstances that legally preclude or bar
collection. There are no foreclosures pending with respect to any collateral securing a debt. The
Agency’s records do not show that any debtor owing a debt has filed for bankruptcy protection.
Alternatively, the Agency can clearly establish that any automatic stay has been lifted or is no longer in
effect.

Due Process. The Agency, at a minimum, has made reasonable efforts to obtain payment of the debt:
demanded payment and provided the debtor with the notice and opporfunities described below:

A. At least 30 days prior to the date of this certification, the Agency has provided, or made
reasonabie efforts to provide each debtor with:

e written notice, at the debior’s most current known address, of the nature and the amount of the
debt, the intention of the Agency to collect the debt through referral to Treasury, and actions
that may be taken by Treasury including referral of the debt to a private collection agency and
referral of the debt to the Department of Justice for litigation.

e  anopportunity to inspect and copy the records of the Agency with respect to the debt;

e anopportunity for review within the Agency of the determination of the Agency with respect
to the debt, including the opportunity to present evidence that all or part of the debt is not
past-due or legally enforceable.

B. The Agency has considered any evidence presented by the debtor and determined that the
amount of the debt is past-due and legally enforceable and there are no pending appeals of
such determination.

Interest and Penalties. The Agency has complied with all of the provisions of 31 U.S.C. § 3717 and 4
C.F.R. Part 102, as well as other statutes, regulations and policies applicable to the Agency’s
assessment of interest, penalties and administrative costs. The Agency has mailed or hand-delivered a
written notice to all debtors explaining the Agency’s requirements concerning the charges.

CERTIFICATION: Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I certify under penalty of perjury that to the best of my
knowledge and belief, and/or based upon Agency certification, that the foregoing is true and correct.
I certify that I have been delegated authority to execute this certification on behalf of the head of my

agency.
May 17, 2001 ﬁ (LU/}J A)ﬂ M@Z i/\k«%
Date Signature of Certifying Official ‘/

Print Name: Shawn Woodhead Wert

Title: Director, Office of Administrative Review
Agency: Federal Eleciion Commission
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